From: Martin Heck <martin@savevermontcolleges.org>

Sent: Thursday, March 11, 2021 2:16 PM

To: Clark, Charity <Charity.Clark@vermont.gov>

Subject: Re: Public Records Act requests, dated March 9, 2021

EXTERNAL SENDER: Do not open attachments or click on links unless you recognize and trust the
sender.
Thank you for your email.

| will reply shortly to each request separately as the reasons and information and dates may vary in each situation.
| attach also to this email a copy of an email that | sent to Mr. Renner and Mr. Curtis offering some explanation

regarding my requests, with the hope that this might assist you in understanding the nature of the public records |
seek--

Martin Heck

Director

Save Vermont Colleges Corporation
P.O. Box 75

Putney, VT 05346

Tel: 802-689-2999

https://SaveVermontColleges.org/
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From: Martin Heck <martin@savevermontcolleges.org>

Sent: Tuesday, March 9, 2021 5:46 PM

To: Curtis, Christopher <Christopher.Curtis@vermont.gov>; Renner, Jamie
<Jamie.Renner@vermont.gov>

Subject: recent requests for public records and documents.

EXTERNAL SENDER: Do not open attachments or click on links unless you recognize and trust the
sender.

Dear Mr. Renner and Mr. Curtis,
This email is not a request for public records and documents.

Although perhaps not required, | felt | wanted to offer a brief explanation of where | am coming from with my
recent requests for public documents and records under 1 V.S.A § 317 and 1 V.S.A. § 318 and assure that | am not
making these requests simply to generate work for your office.

| continue to remain concerned over the situation with Vermont College closures, the reasons for them, the level
of monitoring by your office, and also the disposition of college assets after closure. | believe that under the
current laws, both State and Federal, your office could do more to protect Vermont Educational entities operating
with Tax Exempt (IRS 501c3) status, as Nonprofits for Public Benefit.

| would like to emphasize here nonprofits for public benefit as opposed to nonprofits for mutual benefit, an
important distinction and one | feel is frequently overlooked and misunderstood.

| am open to the idea that the VT AGO should have done more in certain situations in regard to some of the
Vermont College closures in recent years. Some colleges in Vermont have struggled, but with sound management
and responsible retrenchment, have survived.

| have copied a link to this email and also attached by printer friendly pdf an article entitled "Is Anyone Watching
Vermont's 6,000-Plus Charitable Organizations?"

https://www.sevendaysvt.com/vermont/is-anyone-watching-vermonts-6000-plus-charitable-
organizations/Content?0id=17671631

| suspect that one or both of you are familiar with it. | feel some of the statements from your office and the VT
Secretary of State might be relevant in evaluating the AGO and SOS in their respective roles to protect Vermont
nonprofit organizations. | am hopeful more can be done for Vermont Colleges for now and for the future.

Very Truly Yours,

Martin Heck

Martin Heck

Director

Save Vermont Colleges Corporation
P.O. Box 75

Putney, VT 05346

Tel: 802-689-2999
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Is Anyone Watching Vermont's 6,000-Plus Charitable
Organizations?

sevendaysvt.com/vermont/is-anyone-watching-vermonts-6000-plus-charitable-organizations/Content

Paul Heintz

July 04, 2018 News + Opinion » Economy

Thomas Trunzo saw warning signs everywhere he looked.

After joining the board of Emerge Family Advocates, a White River Junction nonprofit, he
noticed that it was dominated by a few close associates of its executive director, Raymona
Russell. For years, it appeared to Trunzo, they had given Russell carte blanche over its
finances — and dismissed any board members who raised questions or sought to inspect the
books. Most troublingly, he alleged in an April 2014 complaint to state authorities, Russell
had been paying herself more than her board-approved salary.

"It took a long time for the [Vermont Attorney General's Office] to get on the case," said
Trunzo, a Lebanon, N.H., attorney. "It went on for years without anybody responding to the
red flags," he said.

To Trunzo, the episode illustrated a lack of government oversight of Vermont's sprawling
nonprofit sector. Though the state is home to more than 6,000 federally recognized
nonprofits, it employs a single assistant AG to ensure their compliance with Vermont law.
And unlike most New England states, it does not require nonprofits to file regular financial
reports.

The federal government does require them to file, but it lacks the resources to comb through
the reports. Over the last decade, according to an Internal Revenue Service report, the
agency's enforcement staff has declined by a quarter. Since a peak in 2011, the number of
nonprofit filings that IRS agents have examined has dropped from 11,699 to 6,101 — or about
0.77 percent of those submitted.

"Congress has refused to provide the resources the IRS needs to provide staff and oversight
for much of its work," said Jennifer Chandler, vice president of the Washington, D.C.-based
National Council of Nonprofits. "It's not that the IRS is doing nothing, but if they had more
people, they could be a much more engaged deterrent."”

In the absence of federal oversight, it has fallen to state AGs to pick up the slack, according to
Cindy Lott, academic director of Columbia University's Nonprofit Management program.
"It's really become a state-level issue, on a lot of fronts, to make sure this is being taken care
of," she said.
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Whether AGs are getting the job done isn't clear. "Enforcement is very difficult to measure,"
Lott said. That's because highly publicized lawsuits and trials capture only a sliver of a
regulator's work. "At times, it's quiet enforcement," she said. "They're not trying to kill off the
charity."

In Vermont, authorities eventually took Trunzo's allegations seriously. The Attorney
General's Office launched an investigation of Emerge Family Advocates, a state- and federally
funded organization that provided supervision for parental visits in child custody cases.

In October 2014, the AG accused Russell of writing paychecks to herself on an "irregular and
inconsistent basis" and paying herself $5,000 to $10,000 a year in excess of her board-
approved salary. Moreover, authorities said, the nonprofit's board had "repeatedly failed to
provide necessary independent oversight over the organization's finances."

"This failure threatens Emerge's mission and has put its current funding in serious jeopardy,"
then-AG Bill Sorrell wrote. In a court filing, he called for a suspension of the nonprofit's
services until new leadership could be installed.

"We decided the only way to protect charitable assets was to remove the board and put a
receiver into place," said Assistant AG Jamie Renner, who oversees nonprofit compliance in
the AG's consumer protection unit.

Russell defended herself in the press, characterizing herself as an overworked, underpaid
nonprofit leader who had been "nothing but transparent.”" But the court sided with the state
and stripped the board of its authority. Within a year and a half, the court-appointed receiver
obtained permission to dissolve Emerge.

No criminal charges were ever filed. Russell could not be reached for comment.

Though Trunzo eventually prevailed, he believes the situation could have been averted. "If
Vermont had a more stringent reporting requirement, maybe the Emerge mismanagement
would never have happened," he said.

Things might have turned out differently, too, if the nonprofit had been based on the other
side of the Connecticut River.

In neighboring New Hampshire, home to the country's first "charitable trusts unit," its
10,000 nonprofits are required to register with the Attorney General's Office and adopt a
conflict-of-interest policy before they can conduct business. Each year, they must file a
financial report — the federal Form 990 suffices for larger organizations — and disclose
whether board members or their families have received excessive pay or loans from the
nonprofit.

"We have a set of eyes review every report, and we ask questions," said Tom Donovan, who
heads the New Hampshire Department of Justice's Charitable Trusts Unit.
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Donovan's staff of eight pore over the filings and look for potential conflicts of interest,
bloated salaries, sustained deficits and potential theft. When the unit discovers something
amiss, it provides advice, mandates training or takes enforcement action.

According to Donovan, his staff routinely uncover wrongdoing, though nonprofits are
typically the victims, not the perpetrators. Embezzlement and other forms of theft are "very
common," he said, but charities often try to hide it because they're embarrassed.

"Unless you go public with it and report it to the police, these people will do it over and over
again, because some thieves know that nonprofits are easy marks," Donovan said. "[Boards]
don't apply the sorts of oversight that they would in a regular business."

Few states regulate nonprofits as aggressively as New Hampshire.

A 2016 survey by the Washington, D.C.-based Urban Institute's Center on Nonprofits and
Philanthropy found that 31 percent of states and territories had less than one full-time
charity enforcement staffer, while another 51 percent had one to 9.9 staffers. Just 13
jurisdictions had a dedicated charities bureau, and 22 required nonprofits to file audited
financial statements.

Vermont is a mixed bag. The state keeps a watchful eye on the commercial fundraisers that
some nonprofits hire (see story), but it barely regulates the nonprofits themselves.

Like any corporation, they must file with the Secretary of State's Office. But according to
Deputy Secretary of State Christopher Winters, "Once you've filed, we have no enforcement
authority. We have no enforcement staff."

Even the Attorney General's Office has only "specific and limited" oversight responsibilities,
according to Renner, the assistant AG charged with enforcing the Vermont Nonprofit
Corporations Act. "Our primary role is to make sure that nonprofits use their assets in line
with their charitable purpose,” he said.

Because Vermont charities are not required to register with or provide regular reports to the
Attorney General's Office, Renner has few opportunities to monitor compliance with the law.
Much of his oversight work focuses on ensuring that when a nonprofit dissolves, it directs
any remaining assets to entities that will use them in the manner intended by donors.

That didn't happen when, in 2012, the United Way of Bennington County closed up shop
because of insufficient funding. After most of its board resigned, money continued to flow
into the shuttered nonprofit's bank account. Its two remaining board members, Valerie
Shemeth and Welthy Myers, decided to distribute the more than $48,000 to local
organizations.
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According to the Attorney General's Office, the recipients included two entities led by
Shemeth: Her nonprofit Gallop to Success received $11,500, and her for-profit Kimberly
Farms received $7,000. Shemeth did not return calls seeking comment.

Myers, a retired nonprofit leader, said the situation had made her uncomfortable. "At the
time, I told her I had great reservations about it," she said. "In the nonprofit world, one gets
very cautious about money going to directors."

The Attorney General's Office intervened and, last September, settled with the two women.
Shemeth agreed to repay the United Ways of Vermont, and both were prohibited from
serving on a nonprofit board until they completed a training course on fiduciary
responsibilities.

"I thought that was kind of ridiculous," said Myers, who was not accused of steering money to
herself. "But I'm 85 years old. I'm not going to go out and work in the nonprofit sector again,
probably."

The Attorney General's Office isn't alone in overseeing the state's nonprofits. The U.S.
Attorney's Office for the District of Vermont prosecutes federal crimes involving charitable
organizations, though it treats them no differently from any other corporation.

"We don't draw a distinction as to whether it's a nonprofit or not," said spokesman Kraig
LaPorte. "We look to see if it's a violation of the law."

The office's biggest cases have focused on fraud committed by the state's nonprofit hospitals.
In 2005, the president and CEO of what was then Fletcher Allen Health Care, William
Boettcher, pleaded guilty to defrauding state regulators over the projected cost of a hospital
addition. He was sentenced to two years in prison.

More recently, Lebanon, N.H.-based Dartmouth-Hitchcock medical center and Brattleboro
Memorial Hospital settled Medicare and Medicaid fraud cases.

The U.S. Attorney's Office has also investigated whether leaders of a failed educational
nonprofit, Burlington College, misrepresented the institution's assets when applying for a
bank loan. The probe, which has not resulted in charges, has drawn national scrutiny because
the focus of the investigation appears to be Jane O'Meara Sanders, a former Burlington
College president and the wife of Sen. Bernie Sanders (I-Vt.).

One of the most memorable federal prosecutions of a local nonprofit employee came in
December 2015, when Hunger Free Vermont learned that its longtime finance director, Sally
Hartford Kirby, had embezzled $165,000 from the South Burlington organization. The next
year, Kirby was sentenced to 15 months in federal prison and ordered to pay more than
$178,000 in restitution.
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"Embezzlement shakes everybody to the core," said Hunger Free Vermont board chair
Darren Allen. When the organization realized what had happened, Allen said, it did not
hesitate to disclose the news. "We all firmly believed that being transparent and timely with
our supporters, our friends and the public was the only course to take if we were going to
continue as an organization."

Would greater state regulation have kept Kirby from committing the crime? Allen's not so
sure.

"This doesn't just hit nonprofits. It hits town governments. It hits private corporations," he
said. "If someone is hell-bent — particularly if they're a trusted and beloved member of the
team — if they're hell-bent on creating harm, I would never underestimate the ingenuity of
human beings."

More about this series

Seven Days’ “Give and Take” series analyzes Internal Revenue Service data submitted by the
6,044 federally recognized nonprofit organizations based in Vermont as of May. The paper
looked most closely at the 1,873 organizations that submit detailed Form 990 tax filings in a
digital format. Certain nonprofits — including churches, semi-governmental entities and
those with annual revenue of $50,000 or less — offer up more limited information. Though
these filings provide a thorough look into an organization’s finances, they’re not always error
free.

Digital editor Andrea Suozzo compiled data for this story; staff writer Mark Davis
contributed reporting.

Read more in this series »
Explore our Vermont nonprofits database »
The original print version of this article was headlined "Scrutiny on the Bounty"

Got something to say? Send a letter to the editor and we'll publish your feedback in print!

Tags: Economy, Nonprofit Series, government oversight, Emerge Family Advocates,
embezzlement
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Paul Heintz was part of the Seven Days news team from 2012 to 2020. He served as political
editor and wrote the "Fair Game" political column before becoming a staff writer.
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While no defense of status-quo, the reality is: costs to regulate nonprofits are difficult, or
impossible, to defend. For most states they are simply not economically feasible.

This is no new problem. Marion Freemont-Smith, a legal scholar, deals with this in her book
"Governing Nonprofit Organizations" (2004), concluding without more funding, IRS and
states cannot perform enforcement duties. She concludes: government will not step in to
regulate if it lacks tools to effect change and nonprofits bent on reaping private benefit will
not alter behavior if government fails to perform regulatory duties (p.471).

It can be well argued government regulation will never prevent, or solve, ethical failures due
to cost of regulation. Besides, regulation where it does step in--is only after failure occurs.

Taking a different tack, I found self-regulation is necessary, though not easy, solution and
wrote a book instead emphasizing improved nonprofit ethics, governance and accountability
at board level. It is entitled: Advancing Nonprofit Stewardship through Self-Regulaton:
Translating Principles into Practice (Kumarian Press). It is based, in part, on a survey of "A"
rated nonprofits who provided their bylaws revealing best governance and ethical practices
readily replicated in other nonprofits.

I also address improved self-regulation in: "Accountability and Ethics in Nonprofit
Organizations", Global Encyclopedia of Public Administration, Public Policy and Governance
(2018), Springer International Publishing, which builds upon prior work and research on
nonprofits.

These resources may be helpful to those who favor improved self-regulation-- crafted by
nonprofit boards-- rather than increasing state funding for greater government regulation.
Christopher Corbett, Albany NY.

Posted by Former Regulator on 07/08/2018 at 4:45 PM

I know too many people who do too little work and get too much money working at Vermont
nonprofits that do little to benefit the public good.

Too many nonprofit CEQ's drive luxury cars, have huge retirement accounts, and vacation
often. These people are leeches and this Vermont taxpayer would be very happy to pay for
better enforcement. Any nonprofit with fewer than 20 employees and a CEO with a salary
greater than $150,000/year ought to have their tax-free status immediately revoked.

Posted by Penelope on 07/05/2018 at 9:51 AM
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